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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	Miss K Stocks

	Scheme
	Hornbuckle & Mitchell SIPP

	Respondents
	Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd

Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd

Baillie Hutchison


Subject

Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustees Ltd and Baillie Hutchison, the trustees of the Hornbuckle & Mitchell SIPP, and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd, the administrators, failed to put into effect a pension sharing order.

The Deputy Pensions Ombudsman’s determination and short reasons

The complaint should be upheld against Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustees Ltd, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd and Baillie Hutchison because they have failed to implement the Pension Sharing Order made on 4 December 2007.
DETAILED DETERMINATION

Material Facts

Background

1. Mr Cowie and Mr Hutchison are Member Trustees of the Hornbuckle & Mitchell SIPP, a group private pension scheme (“the Scheme”). Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd is the general trustee of the Scheme and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd the administrator. The main asset of the Scheme is a commercial property. Mr Cowie also had some cash, most of which was invested in a flexible pension plan with AEGON. 
2. Mr Cowie and Mr Hutchison are both independent financial advisers and both worked for Medical and Professional Management (“MPfM”), which was appointed by the Trustees to act as property manager in relation to the property. This business was owned by Mr Cowie until he sold it to Mr Hutchison in 2007. 

Scheme rules
3. The Rules are set out in an establishing trust deed, dated 16 February 2001. The Deed states that the Scheme is established by the Bank of Scotland as Provider and appoints Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd as Scheme Trustee and administrator (at a later date, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd was appointed as administrator). The Scheme Trustees and Member Trustees are to establish a supplemental trust.

4. The rules include amongst others, the following

· Rule 9: the assets of each Group SIPP shall be registered in the names of the Trustees, with the Scheme Trustee the first named.

· Rule 13: all investments, assets and money of the fund of each Group SIPP are held under the legal control of and by (or in the name of) the trustees of that Group SIPP.
· Rule 17: The Trustees may sell, convert or otherwise deal with any of the investments or assets held.
· Rule 18: the Trustees may enter into transactions including the purchase of any commercial real property.
· Rule 19: the Trustees may borrow money for certain purposes, including to purchase commercial property, acquire other assets or to pay benefits under the SIPP.
· Rule 24: The Members and the Scheme Trustee are to agree between them the terms of entry for membership, and each Member agrees to observe and perform all the terms of the Establishing Deed, the Rules and the Supplemental Deed.
· Rule 25: The administration and management of the Scheme are vested in the Administrator.
· Rule 26: all expenses in connection with the administration, management and investment of the Scheme shall be paid by the administrator out of the designated account.
· Rule 36: The Trustees may employ agents to transact business.
5. Schedule 1 to the Deed contains further rules, including that a Member agrees to be bound by the rules. Subject to the agreement of the Scheme Administrator, an ex-spouse who has pension credit rights may become a member.

6. By virtue of the Supplemental Deed, members are admitted to membership of the Scheme and appointed joint trustees in conjunction with the Scheme Trustee. Each Member agrees to comply with and observe the provisions of the Establishing Deed and Rules. The Members and the Scheme Trustee are to agree the terms of membership. The Trustees are to act unanimously for the purposes of providing any benefits or investments. In the event of any dispute between the Scheme Trustee and the Member Trustees in the exercise of their powers, the Scheme Trustee’s determination is final and binding. 
7. The Trustees have the power to delegate to anyone (including one or more of themselves) the execution or exercise of any of the trusts, powers and discretions. Neither the Scheme Trustee nor the Member Trustees shall be liable for any breach of trust or other acts or omissions except to the extent attributable to their own act or omission knowingly and deliberately committed in bad faith. The Scheme Trustee and each member trustee shall be indemnified from the assets of the Member fund and or the Group SIPP.
8. A resolution in writing signed by an authorised signatory of the Scheme Trustee and the Member shall be valid as if passed at a meeting of the Scheme Trustee and Member.
9. The Application to become a Member includes the following provisions:

· The Member authorises the Administrator to realise investments in order to pay annual, transaction and third party charges.
· The Member is solely responsible for all decisions concerning the purchase, retention and sale of investments, and indemnifies the Scheme Trustee against any claim in respect of any such decisions.
Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999
10. Section 28(1) 
Section 29 applies on the taking effect of … 
(e) a pension sharing order under the Family Law (Scotland) Act 1985
(f) provision which corresponds to the provision which may be made by such an order and which – 

(i) is contained in a qualifying agreement between the parties to a marriage…

11. Section 29
(1) On the application of this section— 

(a)the transferor’s shareable rights under the relevant arrangement become subject to a debit of the appropriate amount, and 

(b)the transferee becomes entitled to a credit of that amount as against the person responsible for that arrangement. 

(2) Where the relevant order or provision specifies a percentage value to be transferred, the appropriate amount for the purposes of subsection (1) is the specified percentage of the cash equivalent of the relevant benefits on the valuation day.

12. Section 34: the implementation period for a pension credit is the period of 4 months beginning with the later of

(a) the day on which the relevant order or provision takes effect; and

(b)the first day on which the person responsible for the pension arrangement ... is in receipt of



(i) the relevant matrimonial documents, and

(ii) such information relating to the transferor as the Secretary of State may prescribe by regulations

13. “Relevant matrimonial documents” is defined as the relevant order or provision, and the order, decree or declarator for the divorce.

Pensions on Divorce etc (Provision of Information) Regulations 2000
14. Regulation 5: The information prescribed for the purposes of section 34 above, which the person responsible for the pension arrangement must receive, is:


(a) in relation to the transferor – 

i. All names by which the transferor has been known

ii. Date of birth

iii. Address

iv. National Insurance number

v. The name of the pension arrangement to which the pension sharing order relates; and

vi. The transferor’s membership or policy number


(b) in relation to the transferee – 

i. All names by which the transferee has been known

ii. Date of birth

iii. Address

iv. National Insurance number; and

v. If the transferee is a member of the pension arrangement from which the pension credit is derived, his membership or policy number in that pension arrangement

(c) where the transferee has given his consent in accordance with paragraph 1(3)(c), 3(3)(c) or 4(2)(c) of Schedule 5 to the 1999 Act (mode of discharge of liability for a pension credit) to the payment of the pension credit to the person responsible for a qualifying arrangement— 

i. the full name of that qualifying arrangement; 

ii. its address; 

iii. if known, the transferee’s membership number or policy number in that arrangement; and 

iv. the name or title, business address, business telephone number, and, where available, the business facsimile number and electronic mail address of a person who may be contacted in respect of the discharge of liability for the pension credit.
Pension on Divorce etc (Pension Sharing) (Scotland) Regulations 2000

15. These Regulations set out the prescribed information to be provided where a pension sharing agreement (which is not available in England and Wales) is entered into on divorce. The requirements are essentially the same as those set out above save that some additional information concerning the agreement is required.

The transfer of the pension to Miss Stocks
16. Miss Stocks was formerly married to Mr Cowie. In 2007 there were divorce proceedings between them and in September a valuation was provided to the court of Mr Cowie’s assets in the Scheme, which placed his share of the commercial property at £58,758.29 and his cash investment at £39,457.60.

17. In November 2007 Mr Cowie made an application to invest £33,000 from his cash fund with AEGON. The application form was signed by each of the trustees – Mr Cowie, Mr Hutchison and a signatory for Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd. After the application was signed but before submitting it to AEGON, Mr Cowie altered the form to show an initial single payment of £2,500, with further payments of £30,500 to be made in November each year, the first such payment being made on 26 November 2007. His business was to receive a financial adviser charge of 50%. As a result of these changes, his firm MPfM received an adviser fee of £15,450.

18. On 4 December 2007, the Court of Session made an order that Mr Cowie and Miss Stocks be divorced, and made further orders including a Pension Sharing Order providing that 100% of Mr Cowie’s interest in the Scheme be transferred to Miss Stocks.

19. On 7 January 2008 Miss Stock’s solicitors sent a copy of the court order to Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd requesting that the order be implemented. The solicitors sent a further letter on 25 January asking for confirmation that the order was being implemented. On receipt of the documentation, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd treated Miss Stocks as a Pension Credit Member and their electronic records were updated to show the Scheme assets were assigned to her. 

20. In March 2008 Miss Stock’s then financial adviser notified Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd of her intention to transfer her pension credit share of the assets to another pension provider. Miss Stocks says that all necessary documents required for this were completed at that time.

21. In May 2008 Mr Cowie was declared bankrupt, meaning he was barred from being a trustee of the Scheme. Neither Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd nor Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd was at that point aware of this. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd contacted both Mr Cowie and Mr Hutchison asking about the release of funds. 

22. On 14 May 2008 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd wrote to MPfM stating that Miss Stocks had confirmed she wished to transfer her pension entitlement under the court order to her own personal pension. Their understanding was that the Members could decide how to fund the transfer; there was no requirement to sell the property, but if it was not sold the Members would have to ensure there were sufficient funds to pay to Miss Stocks. This could be done, if necessary, through borrowings. Alternatively, they could offer to transfer a share of the property to her. They were awaiting confirmation from Miss Stocks of the type of pension she had, but in the meantime wanted instructions from the two Members.

23. Miss Stocks’ solicitors had sent a further letter to Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd on 8 May 2008, referring to their previous letters and telephone calls, to which there had been no response, and requested a response within seven days. Having had no reply, the solicitors sent an email on 21 July warning Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd that it was in breach of the court order and that legal proceedings would be issued unless immediate steps were taken to implement the order. This was followed by a further email on 30 July, again threatening legal action. 

24. In the meantime, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd had written to MPfM on 2 June 2008 saying they had been informed by Miss Stocks’ financial adviser that she had a personal pension plan and in view of this, they sought confirmation of how Mr Cowie and Mr Hutchison wished to proceed with the transfer. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd sent reminders on 18 June and 2 July but received no reply. On 4 August they wrote directly to Mr Cowie and Mr Hutchison advising that Miss Stocks’ solicitors were threatening legal action. They asked for an urgent response confirming what arrangements the two Member Trustees were putting in place to effect the transfer. They advised that if nothing had been done they would have no choice but to sell the property. Mr Cowie replied on 12 August, saying he was 

“at a bit of a loss as the pension share was issued on the back of a decree from the High Court, therefore this should just be implemented.”
25. There was no response from Mr Hutchison. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd wrote to him again on 19 August 2008 saying the Trustees needed to ensure there were sufficient funds to enable the order to be implemented and asked him to advise, as a matter of urgency, how he intended to proceed.

26. On 18 August 2008 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd emailed Miss Stocks’ solicitors, asking if there was a Pension Sharing Order document, stating that the document provided was only the divorce decree. The solicitors replied on 25 September providing a further copy of the court order.

27. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd replied on 15 October 2008, requesting the prescribed information required for a Qualifying Agreement. The solicitors replied, explaining that there was no Qualifying Agreement and that the copies of the court orders provided previously were all that was required.

28. Miss S’s solicitors sent a further letter on 19 November 2008 asking whether AEGON had agreed to release the cash funds. They also raised the issue of the sale of the property.

29. On 5 December 2008, MPfM wrote to the local council, enclosing a completed Empty Property Relief application form together with confirmation from an accountant that the premises were not occupied during the tax year 2007/08. On 2 June 2009 he sent a further application form to Hornbuckle Mitchell Group, for onward transmission to the council.

30. In 15 January 2009 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd advised that AEGON required a letter signed by all the trustees before releasing the funds. With regard to the property, they had not heard from Mr Hutchison and therefore were in a position to proceed with the sale. They had instructed agents to deal with the sale. There were, however, some issues regarding non domestic rates payable and utility bills in respect of the property. They advised as to the estimated costs of sale. 

31. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd wrote to Mr Hutchison again on 21 January 2009 stating that, in the absence of further contact from him, they intended to proceed with a sale of the property. They provided details of the likely costs and asked for confirmation of how these would be met. They also enclosed a letter to AEGON for signature by him and Mr Cowie and asked that this be returned immediately.

32. In March 2009 the AEGON policy was cashed for a sum of £11,731.66. The funds were retained by Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd to use in relation to ongoing costs of the Scheme, including utility bills being incurred in relation to the property.

33. Miss Stocks’ solicitors wrote again on 20 March 2009 regarding Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd’s assertion that the delay in implementing the order was due to the Member Trustees’ refusal to consent. They asked that the cash funds, which had by now been obtained from AEGON, be paid to Miss Stocks immediately and warned that they would take legal action.

34.  On 30 March 2009 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd wrote to Miss Stocks’ financial adviser, stating that in order to proceed with the transfer they needed full details of Miss Stocks’ bank account, policy number and Pension Scheme Tax Reference number, together with a written instruction signed by her requesting a transfer. They advised that if Miss Stocks wished to proceed with a transfer of her share of the property any costs associated with that would have to be paid out of the Scheme, and at that point the SIPP bank account did not have any funds. 

35. On 7 April 2009, the solicitors emailed Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd asking for details of the amount that would need to be retained to cover costs, together with a figure for the amount of cash held as at 4 December 2007.  Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd advised that an amount of £2,800 would have to be held back from Miss Stocks’ share, but that would increase until either a tenant was found or the property was sold. The cash held at 4 December 2007 had been £2,655.53, split equally between the two members. On 17 April the solicitors asked for an explanation of why there had been a delay of a year in implementing the order, and asked when the cash sum had been divided between the two members. 
36. In June 2009 Miss Stocks changed her financial adviser. Her new adviser corresponded with Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd regarding arrangements for the transfer. On 2 June Mr Hutchison wrote to Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd advising that he would be in contact in a few days to discuss the arrangements in respect of the pension. 
37. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd wrote to Mr Hutchison on 13 August 2009 with regard to charges relating to the property including non domestic rates. 

38. On 17 December 2009 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd received an email from Mr Cowie in his capacity as Mr Hutchison’s financial adviser stating that Mr Hutchison agreed to a sale of the property. It emailed MPfM on 23 December noting this and advising that their Technical Department had been asked for advice on how to proceed. It also advised that an invoice had been received from Scottish Gas and said a cheque would be issued in respect of this for Mr Hutchison to sign. It asked if a time had been arranged with the council for an inspection of the property.

39. On 8 January 2010 Miss Stocks’ financial adviser wrote to Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd advising that she wished to transfer the funds from the AEGON policy to her pension plan. He provided details of her pension, including her plan number and HMRC reference together with details of the bank account into which the money should be paid. He also provided the completed ‘Transfer Out Request’ forms which Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd had sent for completion and which were signed by her on 12 January. These gave details of the pension plan into which Miss Stocks wanted the funds transferred. 
40. On 10 February 2010 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd wrote to Miss Stocks’ solicitors confirming that they had received the signed ‘Transfer Out Request’ form but advised that they were unable to proceed with the transfer as they had been advised by their technical experts that copies of the Pension Sharing Order and Decree Absolute were required. They provided what was described as a sample Pension Sharing Order setting out the information required. Their understanding of the document provided previously was that it was an order from the court where it was agreed that a pension sharing order was to be made, rather than the Pension Sharing Order itself. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd noted that the intention was to transfer the entire fund. As part of the Scheme assets was a property, they asked for confirmation of whether the whole was to be transferred or only a partial transfer. Finally, they advised that the AEGON policy had been cashed, but funds received (£11,731.66) were needed to cover costs relating to the property.

41. Miss Stocks’ solicitors replied on 12 February 2010, stating that – as explained previously – the Pension Sharing Order was contained in the order sent to them in January 2008 and there were no other court orders. There was no Decree Absolute, as that only applies in English law and not in Scotland. They advised that their client had been very patient but that matters needed to progress, notwithstanding any difficulties with the other trustees. 

42. Miss Stocks’ solicitors wrote again on 7 May 2010 requesting an update on progress with the sale of the property. Further correspondence followed, during which Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd explained that Mr Cowie had been declared bankrupt in 2008, but they had not been aware of that until April 2009; there were outstanding issues regarding bills relating to the property; a property manager needed to deal with the sale; and if Miss Stocks was not happy with MPfM acting, another property manager could be appointed. 
43. Mr Hutchison wrote to the council on 19 August 2010, in response to an invoice for non domestic rates, advising that the property remained empty and was in the process of being marketed for sale. He asked that the council contact him to arrange a suitable time for an inspection if that were required. A letter from the accountant dated 17 August confirmed that the property was empty.

44. On 11 June 2010 MPfM emailed Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd asking for confirmation that it had been in touch with Ms Stocks in relation to her agreement to put the property on the market for sale. A reply sent the same day confirmed that Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd had written to Miss Stocks and was awaiting her confirmation regarding the sale of the property. On 20 September MPfM wrote to Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd advising that a revised bill for non domestic rates had been sent on 6 September.

45. On 8 March 2011 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd emailed MPfM to say it had heard from Ms Stocks’ adviser about appointing a new property manager. On 5 August they emailed again with details of the new property manager (“D M Hall”) proposed by Miss Stocks’ financial adviser for Mr Hutchison’s consideration. They advised that as a Member Trustee they needed his confirmation that he was happy with the proposal. A further email on 15 August advised of their understanding that Mr Hutchison had agreed to the appointment of the new property manager and enclosed an agreement for his signature confirming the appointment. The signed agreement was returned by Mr Hutchison on 26 September. Meanwhile, on 18 August MPfM had sent to Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustees Ltd a completed application for Empty Property Relief with a letter from the accountant confirming that the property was empty. 
46. On 5 October 2011 D M Hall emailed to Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd a request for some further details concerning the property, which was forwarded to MPfM on 12 October. A reply was sent on 7 November. 
Summary of Miss Stocks’ position  
47. As far as Miss Stocks is concerned, the matter should have been straightforward; a Pension Sharing Order was made in December 2007. A copy of this was sent to Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd on 7 January 2008, with a request for the full value of her benefits to be transferred to her and she expected the order to be implemented within four months of that request. There were no other court documents apart from those sent in January 2008 but Hornbuckle Mitchell wrongly kept asking for further court orders. It appears they misunderstood the legislation despite it being repeatedly brought to their attention by her solicitors. Her financial advisers provided all the information required and there was no reason why the court order could not be implemented. At no time did Hornbuckle Mitchell ask for any specific information; all that was requested was a copy of the court order. All necessary documentation was sent by her financial adviser in March 2008.
48. The Trustees should have got on with the sale of the property, giving any necessary instructions to the property manager to facilitate this. She is not a Trustee or Member of the Scheme and so could not give any instructions herself. If she had been a Trustee she would have been able to take steps to protect her interests.
49. The money from the AEGON policy should have been paid to her as part settlement of the transfer of the pension rather than being retained. The cash balance in 2007 was almost £40,000 and was mostly held in bank accounts but most of this has disappeared, leaving a sum of £11, 731.66 split between the beneficiaries. 
50. Mr Hutchison is trying to distance himself from Mr Cowie, but they worked together at MPfM since 1997 and had previously worked together somewhere else. Due to the close relationship between them, she always wanted her share transferred out of the Scheme to prevent her future interests being harmed by their actions. They do not have to sell the property and could raise other money to pay her share. The property has never been marketed for sale and has simply been allowed to deteriorate.

51. The majority of the costs incurred in relation to the property would not have been incurred had the Trustees and administrator implemented the court order properly, as they were required to do. In any event, they should be met by MPfM as tenant or property manager and should not be payable by her. She requested a change of property manager in 2011 because it was obvious nothing was being done by MPfM to proceed with the sale. A contract was signed for the new manager in September 2011 but there has still been no progress. It is not in a fit state for sale despite Mr Hutchison saying it was being readied for sale over the last four years.

52. In addition to the loss of value of the pension assets, she has incurred legal costs in trying to pursue the matter.

Summary of Mr Hutchison’s position  
53. The property was purchased both as an investment for the Scheme and as somewhere Mr Cowie could use as a branch office of his business MPfM. As investments of this nature require trustees, Mr Cowie asked him to act in this role in respect of the Scheme. Mr Cowie also had another, entirely separate business, MPFM Ltd, which owned other properties in the same street and Mr Cowie took on responsibility for looking after all of the properties. 
54. He and another colleague purchased MPfM from Mr Cowie in 2007. The intention was for Mr Cowie to continue working as a self employed consultant but there was no formal contract. Mr Cowie then started to spend significant periods abroad looking after his other business interests and no longer had any involvement with MPfM.

55. Mr Hutchison says he had very little dialogue with Hornbuckle Mitchell at any time and he was not aware of the issues raised by Miss Stocks’ solicitors. In May 2008 he was told by them that an Order had been made and that Miss Stocks wished to transfer her interest to her own personal pension. 

56. He received further emails in June and July 2008 but at that stage was unaware there was a Pension Sharing Order as Mr Cowie did not advise him that a Decree had been issued. As the correspondence was addressed to MPfM and related to Mr Cowie’s pension, it was all passed straight to him to deal with. Further correspondence was sent in August 2008 addressed to MPFM Ltd, a separate company, and was forwarded to the directors of that company. 

57. He then received a letter at his home address, which was the first time he became aware of the issues between Miss Stocks and Hornbuckle Mitchell. He spoke to Mr Cowie, who told him that he (Mr Cowie) would deal with it given that it concerned his pension plan, and said there was “nothing that I needed to be concerned with.”
58. Hornbuckle Mitchell wrote to him on 19 August 2008 confirming that Miss Stocks wished to transfer her interest to her own pension and the sufficient funds would be needed to effect the transfer. Again, Mr Cowie said he would liaise with Hornbuckle Mitchell to deal with this. Any further correspondence he received, he passed to Mr Cowie to deal with. He was not aware of the lengthy correspondence during 2008 and 2009. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group said in January 2009 that they were to proceed with the sale of the property and any subsequent failure to go ahead with that was not down to him.
59. On the basis of the above, he has not been responsible for the failure to implement the Pension Sharing Order. He delegated all responsibility for dealing with the matter to Mr Cowie, who as a joint Trustee and Member was equally responsible for ensuring the court order was implemented. Mr Cowie was forcible in taking control of matters. He should not have to pay an equal amount to the other Respondents, taking into account his limited role in what went on.
60. With regard to the expenses of the property, they applied for non domestic rates relief, but this was a complex process and took time to resolve. It became clear after a while that Mr Cowie was not dealing with it, after which point he took it on himself. After extensive correspondence the appropriate relief was obtained for each tax year. He went to some lengths to protect, as far as possible, the value of the property.
61. They paid for landscaping to be done, to improve the appearance of the property, and Mr Cowie contacted a firm of surveyors to arrange for the property to be sold. However the economic downturn following the credit crunch in 2008 had a huge impact. Even now, the demand for such properties in that area is significantly reduced, which in turn has depressed prices.

62. He corresponded with Mr Cowie over a long period, trying to get him to sign a deed of discharge, but Mr Cowie never replied to his correspondence. There was not, in fact, a close working relationship between him and Mr Cowie, who did not keep him informed and misled the other trustees. He has himself been caused loss by Mr Cowie’s actions and has at all times been keen to reach a satisfactory conclusion. 

Summary of Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd’s position  
63. Joint comments have been submitted on behalf of Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd. 

64. On receipt of the court order in January 2008 their records were amended to show that Mr Cowie no longer had any interest in the assets, and Miss Stock was entitled to his share in the pension. When the court order was originally sent, it was not clear if this was all that was required; technical advice was given that a further order, together with a copy of the Decree Absolute, was required. Although Miss Stocks’ solicitors explained the difference between divorce court papers in England and Scotland, the documents provided were not in accordance with the prescribed information as set out in the Regulations and until this was provided by Miss Stocks the court order could not be implemented. 
65. The AEGON plan was surrendered in March 2009 for £11,731.66 but this could not be released to Miss Stocks as the money was needed to cover costs relating to the property. Funds were also taken from Mr Hutchison’s plan to cover his share of the costs.
66. There was some confusion about when Mr Hutchison became aware that Mr Cowie and Miss Stocks had divorced and a Pension Sharing Order had been granted, but they told Mr Hutchison of the need to implement the Order as early as May 2008. Mr Hutchison says he left matters to Mr Cowie to deal with. As a co-trustee, he cannot abrogate his responsibilities. It is a Group Self Invested Pension Scheme where the two of them were joint members and trustees; whilst he could delegate matters to Mr Cowie, that could only be in respect of administration; it could not change his responsibility as a trustee member. 
67. The property is jointly owned by the two member trustees and they appointed a property manager. It was their responsibility to ensure the property manager carried out its obligations relating to maintenance and repairs, arranging for tenants and dealing with the sale. Other properties owned by Mr Cowie had tenants but this property does not. They are not aware of any landscaping being carried out, and have had no information about this or receipts for any payments.

68. There appear to have been several changes of name of MPfM over the years, but they were not informed of the changes. In particular, they were never informed that Mr Cowie sold his business to Mr Hutchison in 2007.

69. As far as they are aware, the property is not being marketed for sale. If the property is to be sold, they expect Mr Hutchison and Miss Stocks to instruct the property manager jointly; this has not been done and so the property has not been marketed for sale. The property managers should be liable for any decrease in value of the premises since 2009, since it was their responsibility to maintain the property. Neither Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd nor Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd should be liable for any maintenance costs after June 2009; these would have been Miss Stocks’ responsibility if the property had been sold or transferred to her. 
70. Mr Cowie is still listed as a legal owner of the property on the title register. It may be necessary to make an application to the court to allow a sale in the absence of his signature and allowance should be made for any costs incurred in relation to this.

71. The nature of the Scheme is such that all of the trustees have to agree in order to give effect to decisions or for actions to be taken. The agreements needed to give full effect to the Pension Sharing Order have not yet been reached, but they have acted in good faith in the absence of clear communication between the parties. 
72. Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd is a ‘bare’ trustee and has no assets or fund that can be used to pay any award, but Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd should be able to facilitate any payments due if the two companies are made jointly and severally liable. 
Conclusions

73. During the divorce proceedings, valuations were provided that the pension to be transferred from Mr Cowie to Miss Stocks was worth £98,215.89. That pension was to be transferred to her within four months of Hornbuckle Mitchell Group receiving a copy of the court order and the prescribed information required by the Pensions on Divorce etc (Provision of Information) Regulations 2000. The court order was made in December 2007 and a copy sent to Hornbuckle Mitchell Group in January 2008. It is now October 2012 – almost five years later – and the court order has not yet been implemented. Meanwhile, the value of the fund has dropped considerably.
74. In order to reach a conclusion on the complaint, I need to consider who was responsible for implementing the transfer; decide at what point it could have been implemented; and establish the reasons for any delay up to that point and for the failure to do so since then.

75. The Scheme Trustees and the Members Trustees are the joint owners and have joint control of the assets, and should act together to deal with any issues relating to those assets (though the Members have sole responsibility for investment decisions). Where a court has made a Pension Sharing Order, the Trustees have joint responsibility for implementing that Order, and the Administrator for dealing with any administrative tasks to relating to this. What should have happened, therefore, is that the Trustees should have agreed on how to realise the assets and ensure there were funds available for the transfer, made any decisions to implement that, and given any instructions necessary to the Administrator. Due to Mr Cowie’s bankruptcy he was unable to act as Trustee, which meant that it was for Mr Hutchison and Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd to agree how to proceed and then for Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd to deal with the administrative arrangements.
76. Miss Stocks’ solicitors sent a copy of the court order in January 2008, but that alone was not sufficient to enable the transfer to proceed. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group also needed the prescribed information and details of the pension plan to which Miss Stocks wished to transfer the funds. That information was not provided at that time, and so the transfer could not proceed. No blame can be attached to the Trustees or Hornbuckle Mitchell Group in relation to that.
77. However, there then followed a period of confusion as to what information was to be provided. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group considered that the court order was not, in fact, a pension sharing order and asked for further papers from Miss Stocks’ solicitors. For their part, the solicitors were adamant that it was the correct order, and that there was nothing else that could be provided. That state of affairs continued throughout 2008 and beyond.
78. In August 2008 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd asked Miss Stocks’ solicitors if there was a Pension Sharing Order document, stating that the document provided was only the divorce decree. The solicitors replied on 25 September providing a further copy of the court order. Then in October, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd requested the prescribed information required for a Qualifying Agreement. The solicitors replied, explaining that there was no Qualifying Agreement and that the copies of the court orders provided previously were all that was required. 
79. The two sides seem to have been at cross purposes, neither being clear what was to be provided. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group referred to Qualifying Agreements under s.28(1)(f) Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999, and the information required for these under Pension on Divorce etc (Pension Sharing) (Scotland) Regulations 2000 (and, indeed referred to these regulations in its initial response to this investigation). But this was not a qualifying agreement, it was a Pension Sharing Order and so these are the wrong regulations. And the court order provided in January 2008 was the correct order – it was in fact the only order the court made, so there were no other court orders that could have been provided. 
80. There was, therefore, delay during 2008 due to the failure to understand which regulations applied and what information was needed. This misunderstanding was not solely on Hornbuckle Mitchell Group’s part; Miss Stock had not provided the information required to go with the court order, and until that was provided the transfer could not go ahead. Nevertheless, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group was very slow to pursue this; if it did not have the information needed, it should not have waited until October 2008 to request it. Indeed, it was still requesting the same information as late as February 2010. This failure to identify correctly what information was needed and to obtain it within a reasonable time was maladministration. 
81. Notwithstanding the confusion, in January 2009 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group advised that, not having heard from Mr Hutchison, it was in a position to proceed with the sale of the property. But no further steps were taken to proceed with this and since they did not have Mr Hutchison’s agreement it is questionable whether they were in fact in a position to proceed. 

82. Mr Hutchison, for his part, did not confirm his agreement to sell the property until an email sent on his behalf by Mr Cowie in December 2009. That was 19 months after Hornbuckle Mitchell had first contacted him in May 2008 and he has offered no real explanation for the failure to confirm his position. This delay to provide his consent is maladministration. 
83. Mr Hutchison raises two main arguments – that he was not made aware of all the issues by Hornbuckle Mitchell; and that he delegated responsibility for dealing with this matter to Mr Cowie. He may not have been privy to all the correspondence between Hornbuckle Mitchell Group and Miss Stocks’ solicitors, but he was certainly aware from May 2008 that a court order had been made. He had agreed to be bound by the Scheme Rules and, as a trustee, he had a legal responsibility to ensure that order was implemented. He cannot simply avoid his legal obligations by saying that he passed everything to Mr Cowie to deal with. He was able to delegate the exercise of functions to someone else but that does not entitle him to walk away from his responsibilities; he had to ensure that those functions were, in fact, exercised. Apart from anything else, as a joint legal owner of the property, he had to provide his consent for any sale and give instructions for this to proceed. Since it was in effect his firm that was acting as property manager, he should have ensured that steps were being taken to market the property for sale, and must have been aware that this was not being done.
84. Meanwhile, neither Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd nor Hornbuckle Mitchell Group took any steps to deal with the sale. Their argument is that instructions had to be given by Mr Hutchison and Miss Stocks for this to proceed. I have already established that Mr Hutchison was at fault in relation to this. But clearly both Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group could have been more proactive in seeking his consent; after an initial flurry of contact with him between May and August 2008, they took no further steps. He then contacted Hornbuckle Mitchell Group in December 2009. But then, rather than acting on his instructions, nothing was done. Throughout this period, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group was preoccupied with seeking erroneous information from Miss Stocks while Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee appears to have been doing nothing at all. 

85. Finally, by January 2010, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group had all the information necessary to proceed. One might have expected something to happen but instead there was a further request for court orders. If Hornbuckle Mitchell Group was still not clear after all that time what information was needed from Miss Stocks it should have sought advice. 

86. This failure to act was compounded by the view that Miss Stocks’ consent was needed for the sale to proceed. She is not a Member Trustee nor is she a joint owner of the property. Although it would be possible under the Scheme Rules for her to be made a Member (with consent of the Administrator) that has not been done. She is merely recorded as having a pension credit. She has therefore no authority to give any instructions as to a sale; that is a matter for Mr Hutchison and Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd. This further misunderstanding compounded the earlier problems and is further maladministration.

87. Eventually, Miss Stocks’ frustration at the lack of action led her to request a change of property manager. That was entirely understandable. The property manager until then was MPfM - in effect, Mr Hutchison – who was clearly not taking any action to progress matters. The need for a new property manager only arose because of the failure up to then to progress the sale. But even now, a year after the new property manager’s appointment, no progress has been made. This complete lack of action over the last year is yet further maladministration. 

88. The other issue that had to be dealt with was to cash in the AEGON policy. The policy has been cashed, but the amount realised was considerably lower than Miss Stocks expected, and she has not received any of this money. In January 2009 Hornbuckle Mitchell Group advised that AEGON required a letter signed by all the trustees before releasing the funds. If that was so, it is not clear why it took a year to establish this. This was dealt with and the policy cashed in March 2009, but there is no clear reason why this could not have been done earlier.
89. The main concern for Miss Stocks is that the amount paid was less than a third of the sum she had expected. However, that is primarily due to Mr Cowie’s actions; he altered the terms of the investment, and in doing so took a commission payment for his firm amounting to almost half its value. Neither Mr Hutchison, Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd nor Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd was responsible for that. However, it is still not clear what has happened to the balance of about £6,500 from the cash sums apparently held in September 2007 and this needs to be accounted for. 
90. In my view, all the information needed to proceed with the sale of the property and implement the Pension Sharing Order was available in January 2010 and action should have been taken then. There is no good reason for the delays over the last 33 months. Had the earlier delays not arisen, however, it should have been possible to proceed much earlier. The confusion about what information had to be provided was on both sides; there was a period of miscommunication between Miss Stocks’ solicitors and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group. But if there was confusion, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group should have clarified the correct information needed from Miss Stocks, taking their own legal advice if necessary, and requested this in 2008. Mr Hutchison was entitled to some time to consider how to proceed – for example whether to seek other ways of raising funds rather than a sale of the property. But he could have given his consent by the end of 2008 at the very latest, and probably earlier. It would have been possible to have obtained all the information needed and given instructions for a sale of the property by December 2008 and any delay since then is entirely down to maladministration by the Respondents. 
91. Having established what went wrong, the question arises of what injustice Miss Stocks has suffered as a result. It is extremely difficult now to say how soon a buyer would have been found for the property or how quickly the sale would have gone through. A reasonable estimate would be that a sale could have been concluded within six months, by about June 2009. If the property now sells for less than the amount that would have been achieved on a sale at that date, then the injustice is the difference in value. 
92. Miss Stocks is entitled to receipt of her 50% share of the value of the property plus Mr Cowie’s cash investment. Hornbuckle Mitchell Group says these funds have been retained to cover outstanding costs. In the normal course of events, it would be appropriate to use funds to cover costs, as allowed by the Scheme Rules. The Respondents have obtained Relief in respect of non domestic rates, so it has not been necessary to pay those. But other expenses such as utility bills have been incurred.  In view of the maladministration that has occurred over the last four years, Miss Stocks should not suffer as a result of these costs. Any such expenses incurred since June 2009 other than the costs of sale of the property, which would have been incurred in any event, should not be borne by Miss Stocks.

93. In addition, Miss Stocks has been caused a great deal of unnecessary distress and inconvenience over a very long period, and has incurred additional legal costs, and these should be addressed.

94. Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd, Hornbuckle Group Ltd and Mr Hutchison were each responsible for the maladministration and resulting injustice. Although Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd has no assets of its own from which to make any payments, Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd has advised of its ability to facilitate any payments due if the two companies are made jointly and severally liable. 
Directions   

95. I direct that Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd and Mr Hutchison shall 
· Within 14 days of today’s date give instructions to the property managers to put the property on the market for sale and give instructions to their solicitors to prepare for the sale of the property.
· Use their best endeavours to achieve a swift and reasonable sale of the property including signing any documents necessary to enable the sale to proceed and taking all reasonable steps to ensure a sale of the property is completed at the appropriate market value as soon as reasonably practicable, accepting any reasonable offers after taking advice from the selling agents. 
· Within 14 days of the sale of the property pay to Miss Stocks’ pension plan 50% of the proceeds of sale of the property after deduction from the gross sale proceeds of: 50% of the reasonable costs of sale and 50% of any outstanding expenses relating to the property incurred prior to June 2009. 

96. I also direct Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd and Mr Hutchison to instruct the agents dealing with the sale to provide an estimate of the value as at June 2009, assuming the property was in good condition at that date. If the property is sold for less than the estimated value as at June 2009, Miss Stocks shall be paid, within 14 days of completion of the sale, a sum equivalent to the difference in value between the sum received by her under paragraph 95 and the sum which she would have received on the same basis had the property been sold in June 2009. 
97. Liability for such payment is to be shared equally by Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd, Mr Hutchison and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd, Mr Hutchison’s share being deducted from his interest in the assets of the Scheme.  
98. I direct Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd 
· to deal with any administrative steps necessary to enable the sale to proceed;
· within 28 days of today’s date to provide full details to Miss Stocks of all sums held in the cash account (including, but not limited to, the proceeds of the AEGON policy) and transfer the full value of the cash sums held to Miss Stocks’ pension plan. 

99. Within 28 days Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd, Mr Hutchison and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd shall each pay to Miss Stocks £500, making a total of £1,500, for the distress and inconvenience caused to her by their maladministration identified above.

100. Within 21 days, Miss Stocks shall provide to Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd details of her legal costs incurred and, within 28 days of receipt of these details, Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd, Mr Hutchison and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd shall each pay an equal share of the total. 
101. Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustee Ltd and Hornbuckle Mitchell Group Ltd shall be jointly and severally liable for their respective contributions to the payments to Miss Stocks set out in paragraphs 96, 99 and 100 above and Mr Hutchison shall be solely liable for his contribution to the payments.

JANE IRVINE

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

13 November 2012
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